

## Original Research Article

# Experts' points of view on developing local organic bazaars in Turkey

İsmet Boz<sup>1\*</sup>, Ali Kemal Ayan<sup>2</sup>, Yener Ataseven<sup>3</sup>, Cevahir Kaynakçı<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Ondokuz Mayıs University Department of Agricultural Economics Samsun Turkey

<sup>2</sup>Ondokuz Mayıs University Bafra Vocational High School, Samsun, Turkey

<sup>3</sup>Ankara University Department of Agricultural Economics Ankara Turkey

<sup>4</sup>Kahramanmaraş Sutcu Imam University Department of Agricultural Economics Kahramanmaraş Turkey

### ABSTRACT

**Aims:** This study, in general, determined experts' point of views on developing local organic bazaars in Turkey. Participants were 103 experts engaged with organic bazaars in different provinces of Turkey. The specific objectives were to **identify a general profile of the experts engaged in organic bazaars in Turkey**, to determine respondents' opinions about the current status of organic bazaars, and to develop recommendations for the development of organic bazaars in the future.

**Place and Duration of Study:** Questionnaires were completed in three different workshops held in İstanbul, İzmir, and Samsun provinces in 2018. Data analysis and writing the manuscript carried out at Ondokuz Mayıs University, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Agricultural Economics, Samsun Turkey.

**Methodology:** Experts of organic bazaars from producers, sellers, controllers, ministry employees, or municipality representatives served as respondents. This study used descriptive statistics to analyze quantitative data and thematic analysis for qualitative responses.

**Results:** Respondents stressed that local organic bazaars in Turkey will be very effective in producing and consuming of organic commodities. As the bazaars are distributed across the country, more farmers will be engaged in organic production while more consumers will have access to organic products at reasonable prices. However, deficiencies particularly in management and legal regulation of local organic bazaars were also noted. Main measures to be taken to establish and improve organic bazaars included increasing trust and transparency, establishing sample organic bazaars in all provinces, focusing both on domestic and international markets, overcoming bureaucratic barriers, implementing a favorable price policy, examining successful organic bazaars, and publicizing organic commodities.

**Conclusion:** In order to overcome the obstacles and develop local organic bazaars in Turkey, cooperation among the Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry, Ministry of Trade, and local municipalities is necessary. In addition, NGOs at local levels should take initiative to support organic bazaars. Municipalities should provide adequate places accessible for consumers, producers, and processors. Moreover, social spaces should be established in organic markets where consumers, families and children can spend good time.

**Keywords:** Organic products, Organic markets, Organic agriculture, Marketing of organic products

## 1. INTRODUCTION

There is a tendency to consume healthier food items in communities with high levels of education and income. Although every human being deserves to eat healthy food, there is no justice and fair trade in organic food markets, particularly in developing countries. While high income consumers can afford to buy and consume organic products, other segments of the population have difficulties even to taste these products (Ayan et al., 2017a; Ayan et al., 2017b). Developed countries particularly in Europe and North America consist of about 90 percent of the sales of organic and fairtrade products. While over 50% of the global organic market takes place in North America, almost 80% of fairtrade retail sales take place in Europe (Lernoud and Willer, 2017). In addition, prices of organic products are perceived high in developing countries. Research conducted in Brazil showed that the price gap between organic and conventional products is perceived as really high, but consumers think that products in organic markets are less expensive than organic products in supermarkets (Sirieix et al., 2007).

Organic markets, in general, provide many benefits to both consumers and producers, as well as any stakeholder engaged in organic value chains. They also have influence on strengthening civil society as they provide space and resources for social movement activities (Allen and Kovach, 2000). Local organic bazaars are among the most important organic markets, particularly for developing countries. Development of these bazaars will increase the number of farmers and consumers who produce and consume organic products, respectively. In developed countries, especially in Europe and North America, mainstream retailers play key role in marketing of organic products. However, in developing countries, access to organic products through mainstream retailers is more difficult because they cannot open stores in all settlements. They mostly prefer to open stores in big cities and shopping centers in densely populated neighborhoods (Aksoy et al., 2018). Therefore, the majority of the population in developing countries does not have access to organic products, even customer with high income and willing to pay higher prices for these products. Local organic bazaars are particularly important in providing organic products to consumers particularly in the places where mainstream retailers have no stores. In addition, organic markets have many advantages such as promoting fair trade, providing consumers with reliable information about products, establishing a cultural bridge between producers and consumers, and planning production according to consumer demand.

The benefits of local organic bazaars include the following (BEYDD, 2017; Ayan et al., 2017a; Eryilmaz et al., 2019): (a) Consumers receive reliable information, directly or in the shortest way, about the products and other related attributes. (b) Opens the road for the fair trade. (c) Provides assurance without any documents and certificates. (d) Allows cultural exchange, protects local culture and makes local differences worldwide. (e) Makes it possible for consumers to buy the products according to their regions and religious belief. (f) Protects biodiversity and ensures that local species, varieties, and tastes get an opportunity in the local markets. (g) Adds social, cultural, and ecological values to the commercial values (such as taste and durability) of agricultural products. (h) Disseminates information between producers and consumers. (i) Makes it possible for producers to arrange their production considering the demand of consumers. (j) Makes it possible for consumers to shop by touching, selecting, and even tasting the products. (k) Allows consumers to access the fresh products. (l) Provides opportunities to small producers who are unable to meet large demand to enter the market.

Research showed that consumers are willing to pay more for organic products. A study conducted in Ohio (Batte et al. 2007) found that consumers are willing to pay (Willingness to Pay-WTP) premiums for organic products, even those with less than 100% organic

**Comment [JM1]:** To provide literature and substantiate your discussion of recommendation, please read this: [https://www.academia.edu/2722955/Organic\\_food\\_in\\_the\\_European\\_Union\\_a\\_marketing\\_analysis](https://www.academia.edu/2722955/Organic_food_in_the_European_Union_a_marketing_analysis)

73 ingredients. The amount of WTP changed according to consumer groups indicating that  
74 focusing on these groups may provide better marketing opportunities for organic  
75 commodities. Another research (Van Doorn and Verhoef, 2011) tried to find differences on  
76 WTP for organic vice products and organic virtue products. Results showed that consumers  
77 are unwilling to pay high price premiums for organic vice products because of negative quality  
78 associations, which suggests that consumers may be more reluctant to purchase organic in vice  
79 than in virtue categories. Loureiro and Hine (2002) evaluated consumer preferences for  
80 locally grown, organically grown, and genetically modified organism (GMO)-free produced  
81 potatoes to determine marketing potential, and found that "Colorado grown" potatoes had  
82 higher WTP among consumers in comparison with organically grown and GMO-free  
83 produced potatoes. Ağır et al. (2014) study found that the price of organic commodities is  
84 one of the key factors that affect consumers to purchase organics, as 84,8% of the  
85 researched sample found the price of organic commodities more expensive than other  
86 products. The study suggested that to accelerate the adoption of organic products among  
87 consumers, organic products should be publicized using media, and a reasonable price  
88 policy should be implemented.

89  
90 The overall purpose of this study was to determine the experts' points of views on organic  
91 bazaars in Turkey and to recommend measures to increase and develop the number of local  
92 organic bazaars. Results are aimed to provide useful material for all stakeholders engaged  
93 in organic bazaars, and for researchers involved in this field.

## 94 2. MATERIALS AND METHOD

95  
96  
97 This study collected information by administering a questionnaire to 103 experts directly  
98 involved in organic bazaars in different regions of Turkey. These experts are also counted  
99 stakeholders who are engaged in organic agriculture as farmers, employees of the Ministry  
100 of Agriculture and Forestry (horticulturists, agronomists, agricultural engineers, agricultural  
101 economists), employees of employees of local municipalities, NGOs (Buğday Association),  
102 Sixty-five of the respondents were contacted during a workshop on developing local organic  
103 bazaars organized by the Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry in April 4-5, 2018. Twenty  
104 questionnaires were completed during the Ninth Ecology Izmir Fair held in Izmir Province in  
105 May 9-12, 2018. The remaining 18 questionnaires were completed in Sürmeli Organic  
106 Village, in Bafra district of Samsun Province in May 20, 2018. Since these experts were  
107 invited to these events to share their opinions with the ministry representatives and other  
108 stakeholders, this study employed purposive sampling method. First common presentations  
109 on organic bazaars were given by the ministry staff and college of agriculture faculty  
110 members. Then the the experts were requested to share their opinions and ideas on  
111 development of organic bazaars in Turkey. Notes were taken by the researchers during the  
112 presentations and discussion sessions. The questionnaires were distributed at the end of the  
113 events.

114  
115  
116 Experts' opinions and insights can be used as a data collection method since they have  
117 knowledge, information, and experiences in the subject. This method was used by different  
118 researchers. For example, Chakrabarti (2010) determined the factors affecting organic food  
119 purchase in India using expert survey insights. Padel and Midmore (2005) used experts'  
120 opinions through the Delphi method to determine strategies for organic markets in Europe.  
121 Another study used expert views to determine climate change adaptation in the least  
122 developed Asia (Sovacool et al., 2012).

123  
124 Earlier works of Ayan et al. (2017a), Ayan et al. (2017b), Boz and Rasulov(2017), Boz and  
125 Kaynakçı (2019) and Kilic and Eryilmaz (2015), as well as official documents and websites of

**Comment [JM2]:** Define "experts" What does it mean in organic marketing system?

**Comment [JM3]:** Is administration of questionnaires done by phone or face-to-face during those events?

**Comment [JM4]:** Please provide dates. What specifically are these events? Were these events still organized by MAF? Or by the researchers?

**Comment [JM5]:** Respondents shared their opinions with MAF and researchers at once? Or separate?

**Comment [JM6]:** Were these experts informed about this study? Was Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry part of this study? A collaboration? Informed?

**Comment [IB7]:** Newly added.

126 local organic bazaars, helped develop the questionnaire composed of both open ended and  
 127 closed ended questions. The first section included questions about sociodemographic  
 128 characteristics of the participants. The second section sought information on respondents'  
 129 opinions about organic bazaars in a five point Likert scale. To interpret the Likert scale items  
 130 the researchers developed an interpretive scale considering the mean of each item as 0.00-  
 131 1.49 = Strongly Disagree, 1.50-2.49 = Disagree, 2.50-3.49 = Neutral, 3.50-4.49 = Agree, and  
 132 4.50-5.00 = Strongly Agree. Open-ended questions asked respondents to describe basic  
 133 problems faced by organic bazaars in which they are engaged in and to list a set of  
 134 recommendations for their solutions.

136 Researchers used both quantitative and qualitative methods to analyze data collected.  
 137 Quantitative methods used to describe sociodemographic characteristics of the respondents.  
 138 These included descriptive statistics such as frequencies, percentages, means, and  
 139 standard deviations. Researchers analyzed respondents' opinions about organic bazaars by  
 140 employing a five-point Likert scale (1 = Strongly Disagree (SD), 2 = Disagree (D), 3 =  
 141 Neutral (N), 4 = Agree (A), 5 = Strongly Agree (SA)). They also developed a five category  
 142 interpretive scale classifying the means of the responses given to each item included in this  
 143 section. This scale provided the following interpretations: 0.00 – 1.49 = SD, 1.50 – 2.49 = D,  
 144 2.50 – 3.49 = N, 3.50 – 4.49 = A, 4.5\*- 5.00 = SA. Finally, they analyzed the open-ended  
 145 questions by listing the most stressed problems and suggesting adequate recommendations  
 146 for each issue.

### 148 3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

#### 150 3.1. Sociodemographic characteristics

151 Sociodemographic characteristics of respondents are presented in Table 1. Average age  
 152 was 43 years old. Since the participants of this study were experts on organics, more than  
 153 half of them held a college degree while one-fourth had further education including master's  
 154 or doctorate degrees. Fifty-six percent of the participants were males, 47.7% were married,  
 155 the number of children was 1.19 on average. Government employees, agriculturist, and  
 156 organic farmers consisted the larger parts of occupation. Average monthly income was  
 157 4,440 Turkish Liras (As of October 8, 2019, \$1 US Dollars made 5,843 Turkish Liras). More  
 158 than half of the respondents (57.8%) had no NGO membership.

**Comment [JM8]:** What these characteristics mean to the organic marketing system? What do these show? Provide analysis. For example: Fifty-six percent of the respondents were males. This shows that more males are involved in organic farming as mentioned in the study of .....

159 **Table 1. Sociodemographic characteristics of respondents**

| Variable            | N   | %     | Variable               | N   | %     |
|---------------------|-----|-------|------------------------|-----|-------|
| Age of respondents* |     |       | Occupation             |     |       |
| Younger than 35     | 32  | 31.4  | Government employee    | 27  | 26.2  |
| 35-50               | 42  | 41.2  | Agriculturist          | 21  | 20.4  |
| Older than 50       | 28  | 27.4  | Organic farmer         | 17  | 16.5  |
| TOTAL               | 103 | 100.0 | College professor      | 6   | 5.8   |
| Level of education  |     |       | Organic product seller | 5   | 4.9   |
| Elementary school   |     |       | Food technician        | 5   | 4.9   |
| High school         | 13  | 20.0  | Food scientists        | 5   | 4.9   |
| College             | 36  | 55.4  | Textile engineer       | 3   | 2.9   |
| Master's/Ph.D.      | 16  | 24.6  | Municipality employee  | 3   | 2.9   |
| TOTAL               | 103 | 100.0 | Organic food processor | 3   | 2.9   |
| Gender              |     |       | Biologist              | 2   | 1.9   |
| Women               | 45  | 43.7  | Other professions      | 6   | 5.8   |
| Men                 | 58  | 56.3  | TOTAL                  | 103 | 100.0 |
| TOTAL               | 103 | 100.0 | Monthly income*        |     |       |
| Marital status      |     |       | Less than 3000 TL      | 28  | 27.2  |
| Single              | 49  | 47.7  | 3001-6000 TL           | 55  | 53.4  |

**Comment [IB9]:** Numbers corrected.

|                     |     |       |                   |     |       |
|---------------------|-----|-------|-------------------|-----|-------|
| Married             | 47  | 45.6  | More than 6000 TL | 12  | 11.7  |
| Divorced            | 5   | 4.8   | No answer         | 8   | 7.7   |
| Widow               | 2   | 1.9   | TOTAL             | 103 | 100.  |
| TOTAL               | 103 | 100.  | NGO membership    |     |       |
| Number of children* |     |       | Yes               | 43  | 42.2  |
| 0                   | 40  | 38.8  | No                | 60  | 57.8  |
| 1                   | 19  | 18.4  | TOTAL             | 103 | 100.0 |
| 2                   | 33  | 32.0  |                   |     |       |
| 3 and more          | 11  | 10.8  |                   |     |       |
| TOTAL               | 103 | 100.0 |                   |     |       |

161 \*Mean age = 42.95 (SD = 12.77), Mean income = 4.440 TL (SD = 2.205 TL), Mean number  
 162 of children = 1.19 (SD = 1.19)

### 164 3.2. Respondents' opinion about organic bazaars

165 Respondents' opinions about organic bazaars are presented in Table 2. Of the 17 items,  
 166 respondents agreed with seven items and remained neutral with 10 items. There were no  
 167 items in strongly agree, disagree and strongly disagree response categories. The items with  
 168 the highest means in a descending order were "Organic bazaars are also a social living  
 169 environment", "Deficiencies in management in organic bazaars are an important problem",  
 170 and "Deficiencies in legal regulations in organic bazaars are an important problem". This  
 171 means that organic bazaars are the places not only for selling and purchasing healthy food  
 172 items but also social living environments bringing together the farmers, consumers, and their  
 173 families. **This feature of local bazaars is proven by earlier research (Pourjafar et al., 2014;**  
 174 **Lowitt, 2009).** However, there are management, regulation, and logistic problems. Also,  
 175 there is a belief among the respondents that the prices of organic products are high, they  
 176 mostly appeal to high income consumers, and physical capacity of bazaars are insufficient.

177  
 178 The items with the lowest mean scores were "There is not much trust problems in organic  
 179 bazaars", "The publicizing of the organic bazaars in Turkey is enough", and "The relationship  
 180 and cooperation between the stakeholders involved in organic bazaars is sufficient". This  
 181 result indicates that trust and transparency in organic products should be ensured. Also,  
 182 publicizing and cooperative work among all the stakeholders will make contributions to  
 183 organic bazaars to be more functional. **According to a study the most important factors**  
 184 **affecting the consumption of organic products in Turkey has been consumers' attitudes and**  
 185 **trust towards the product (Ustaahmetoğlu and Toklu, 2015).**

Comment [JM10]: Provide a study that says so...

Comment [IB11]: We included two more references

Comment [JM12]: Provide a study that says so...

Comment [IB13]: We included one reference in this section.

187 Table 2. Respondents' opinions about organic bazaars

| Order | Factors relating to organic bazaars  | Mean  | Standard Deviation | Level of Agreement |
|-------|--|-------|--------------------|--------------------|
| 1     | Organic bazars are also a social living environment.                           | 4.012 | 1.080              | A                  |
| 2     | Deficiencies in management in organic bazaars are an important problem.        | 3.893 | 0.999              | A                  |
| 3     | Deficiencies in legal regulations in organic bazaars are an important problem. | 3.864 | 1.171              | A                  |
| 4     | There is a conviction that product prices are high in organic bazaars.         | 3.854 | 1.088              | A                  |
| 5     | There is a lack of logistics in organic bazaars.                               | 3.699 | 1.064              | A                  |
| 6     | Organic bazaars are more appealing to high income consumers.                   | 3.611 | 0.952              | A                  |
| 7     | The physical capacity of organic bazaars is insufficient                       | 3.359 | 1.127              | A                  |
| 8     | Communication and customer relations are                                       | 3.310 | 3.168              | N                  |

|    |  |       |       |   |
|----|--|-------|-------|---|
|    | insufficient in organic bazaars.   |       |       |   |
| 9  | The product range and quantity of products coming to organic bazaars are sufficient                  | 3.233 | 1.086 | N |
| 10 | Organic bazaars are adequately controlled.   | 3.233 | 1.122 | N |
| 11 | Sellers earn sufficient income.  | 3.184 | 1.135 | N |
| 12 | There are many bureaucratic processes in selling organic products.                                   | 2.981 | 1.291 | N |
| 13 | There is unfair competition among the sellers of organic products.                                   | 2.902 | 0.902 | N |
| 14 | The awareness of consumers coming to organic bazaars is insufficient.                                | 2.844 | 0.997 | N |
| 15 | There is not much trust problems in organic bazaars  | 2.757 | 1.279 | N |
| 16 | The publicizing of the organic bazaars in Turkey is enough.  | 2.621 | 1.401 | N |
| 17 | The relationship and cooperation between the stakeholders involved in organic bazaars is sufficient. | 2.524 | 0.937 | N |

188

189

### 3.3. Measures to improve organic bazaars

190

Respondents' comments on the open-ended questions were organized by the researchers and the most stressed points to improve organic bazaars were summarized as follows:

191

192

193

**Solving the problems with trust and transparency in organic products:** The problem of trust and transparency for organic products was raised especially by consumer representatives. They indicated that there is significant differences in the level of trust and transparency between Europe and Turkey. One of the practices proposed to overcome the trust and transparency problem in Turkey is to focus on the promotion of organic products and to create a public spot on this issue. A proposal put forward in this context is that the Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry (MAF) should not be left alone in promoting organic products and overcoming the problem of trust and transparency. Feeding public with healthy food and raising a healthy generation is not only the duty of the MAF but also all other stakeholders such as other ministries, farmers organizations, consumers' associations, mainstream retailers, and the media.

204

205

**Establishing exemplary organic markets in all provinces:** Organic bazaars that play an important role in the development of organic agriculture should be established in all provinces. In fact, considering the potential of the consumer market should be established in different districts of the same province. Ministry of Food, Agriculture and Livestock, control and certification bodies, non-governmental organizations, producer organizations, consumer organizations, universities and all other stakeholders should cooperate in establishing exemplary markets. The most important task for the Ministry of Food, Agriculture and Livestock is to raise awareness, bring them together and ensure coordination among all other stakeholders.

214

215

**Organizing organic production not only for foreign sale but also for domestic markets:** Turkey is a typical case among developing countries for the development of organic agriculture based on export potential. Although, Turkey has suitable ecologic conditions and export potential for organic production, the share of Turkish organic products in the world market is significantly low (Demiryürek, 2011). The development of the organic markets will change the perception that "organic commodities are produced for foreign markets and will appeal to high-income groups". Local demand for organic products should be increased through many marketing channels such as organic public markets, specialty

216

217

218

219

220

221

222

**Comment [JM14]:** Provide a study to support this trust and transparency problem in Turkey

**Comment [IB15]:** This recommendation comes from the respondents of this study. Maybe it will be cited for the future research. Therefore, there is not a reference to cite here.

**Comment [JM16]:** Provide literature that that support this recommendation

**Comment [IB17]:** This recommendation comes from the respondents of this study. Maybe it will be cited for the future research. Therefore, there is not a reference to cite here.

223 organic product stores, organic product departments of supermarkets and internet sales  
224 (Eryilmaz and Kilic, 2019). Particularly, local organic bazaars will make it possible to provide  
225 sustainable production for the family enterprises that make small scale production at the  
226 local level. At the same time, the integration of producers and consumers will be ensured  
227 and the social development of the society will be supported.  
228

229 **Overcoming bureaucratic barriers for the development of organic markets:** Different  
230 organizations play roles and accept responsibilities for the establishment and functioning of  
231 organic markets. There are procedures to be carried out with three different institutions to  
232 establish and operate organic bazaars. These institutions are Ministry of Agriculture and  
233 Forestry, Ministry of Trade, the local municipalities. Cooperation among these three  
234 institutions will minimize the bureaucracy and accelerate the establishment and operation of  
235 local organic bazaars.  
236

237 **Applying a favorable price policy:** Especially in the organic markets to be established in  
238 Anatolia (All regions of the mainland Turkey), prices should not be set too high at the  
239 beginning. The most important reason why the market established in some provinces did not  
240 provide enough development was stated as the high prices at the beginning. Many  
241 consumers who come to a newly established organic market to purchase healthy products  
242 are disappointed by the extremely high prices and never visit these markets again. For this  
243 reason, the prices of organic commodities should be set in reasonable levels, particularly in  
244 the early stages.  
245

246 **Successful markets should be examined:** Kayseri Organic Market has become an  
247 exemplary organic market with both the number of producers and consumers it has reached  
248 and the price policy it has implemented. Since its establishment in 2012, it has reached 80  
249 producers. The seasonal market has a growth capacity of approximately 30% per year.  
250 Market employees have efforts to raise awareness of producers and consumers. Two  
251 options are underlined to extend the open days of the market and enable it to operate  
252 throughout the year. One of these was the establishment of greenhouses to enable  
253 production in winter, and the other was to sell organic products produced in other provinces.  
254 Both options can contribute to the growth of the organic market in the province. However,  
255 the economics of greenhouse production in Kayseri conditions, and whether there will be  
256 high demand for products in case of high production costs, should be demonstrated by  
257 scientific research. In addition, if the option of bringing organic products to Kayseri from  
258 other provinces is to be considered, the tendencies of consumers towards these products  
259 should also be demonstrated by scientific studies.  
260

261 **Increasing diversity in local organic bazaars:** Most of the organic bazaars in Turkey are  
262 seasonal. Since the bazaars in large cities like Istanbul, Ankara, and Izmir have more  
263 customers their product diversity is considerably higher than other bazaars opened in other  
264 provinces. Organic bazaars in large cities have connections with producers in other  
265 provinces but other organic bazaars are more local and mostly sell the products grown in  
266 locality. Therefore, their product diversity is low. In order to increase organic product  
267 diversity in small markets, organic products should be properly transported and made  
268 available to consumers.  
269

270 **Introducing organic products to the new generation:** The nutrition of children should be  
271 given special importance. In this context, the Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry should  
272 cooperate with schools and families to carry out educational activities emphasizing the  
273 importance of organic products in child nutrition. In addition, training activities for the  
274 promotion of agricultural products are needed. The names and qualities of various  
275 agricultural products are not known by the majority of the society. For example, the organic

276 product is often mixed with products such as natural product or village product. Therefore,  
277 the concepts of organic product, good agricultural product, conventional product, natural  
278 product, village product should be clarified and explained to consumers.

279

280

#### 4. CONCLUSION

281

282

283

284

285

286

287

288

289

290

291

292

293

294

295

296

297

298

299

300

301

302

303

304

305

306

307

308

309

310

311

312

313

314

315

#### REFERENCES

316

317

318

319

320

321

322

323

324

325

326

327

328

1. Allen P, Kovach M. The capitalist composition of organic: The potential of markets in fulfilling the promise of organic agriculture. *Agriculture and human values*. 2000; 17(3): 221-232.

2. Ağır HB, Poyraz N, Yılmaz Hİ, Boz İ. Tüketicilerin organik ürün algısı: Kayseri İli Örneği. XI. Ulusal Tarım Ekonomisi Kongresi 3-5 Eylül Samsun. 2014; 1434-1439. Turkish.

3. Aksoy U, Boz İ, Eynalov H, Guliyev Y. Organic Agriculture in Azerbaijan, Current Status and Potential for Future Developments. Food and Agriculture Organization United Nations, Baku; 2018.



- 329 4. Ayan AK, Boz I, Kaynakci C, Aytac S. Suppliers of organic food: evidence from Sisli and  
330 Kartal Ecological Bazaars of Istanbul. International Journal of Scientific Research and  
331 Management. 2017a; 5(6):5553-5559.  
332
- 333 5. Ayan AK, Boz İ, Kaynakci C, Aytac S. Consumers' perceptions of organic food items: A  
334 case study of Sisli and Kartal organic bazaars of Istanbul. International Journal of Agriculture  
335 and Environmental Research. 2017b;3(5):3635-43.  
336
- 337 6. Batte MT, Hooker NH, Haab TC, Beaverson J. Putting their money where their mouths  
338 are: Consumer willingness to pay for multi-ingredient, processed organic food products.  
339 Food policy. 2007; 32.(2): 145-159.  
340
- 341 7. Boz I, Kaynakçı C. Possibilities of Improving organic farming in Turkey. Proceedings  
342 Book, 3<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Food and Agricultural Economics 25-26th April,  
343 Alanya, Turkey. 2019: 18-27.  
344
- 345 8. Boz İ, Rasulov A. The effects of local bazaars on marketing of organic products: The  
346 cases of Turkey and Uzbekistan. Development of Organic Agriculture in Central Asia. 2017;  
347 22-24.  
348
- 349 9. Buğday Ekolojik Yaşamı Destekleme Derneği (BEYDD). 100% ekolojik pazar. 2017.  
350 Accessed 12 May 2017. Available: from: <http://www.bugday.org/portal/index.php>. Turkish.  
351
- 352 10. Chakrabarti S. Factors influencing organic food purchase in India—expert survey insights.  
353 British food journal. 2010; (112)8: 902-915.  
354
- 355 11. Demiryürek K. Organik tarım kavramı ve organik tarımın dünya ve Türkiye'deki durumu.  
356 GOÜ, Ziraat Fakültesi Dergisi. 2011; 28(1): 27-36. Turkish.  
357
- 358 12. Eryılmaz GA, Kilic O, Boz I. Türkiye'de organik tarım ve iyi tarım uygulamalarının  
359 ekonomik, sosyal ve çevresel sürdürülebilirlik açısından değerlendirilmesi. Yüzüncü Yıl  
360 Üniversitesi Tarım Bilimleri Dergisi. 2019; 29(2): 352-361. Turkish.  
361
- 362 13. Eryılmaz GA, Kilic O. Türkiye'nin organik fındık üretimi ve ihracatındaki gelişmeler. Fırat  
363 Üniversitesi İİBF Uluslararası İktisadi ve İdari Bilimler Dergisi. 2019; 3(1): 41-54. Turkish.
- 364 14. Kilic O, Eryılmaz GA. Factors affecting consumers' awareness of food safety. Agro Food  
365 Industry Hi Tech. 2015; 26(3): 43-46.
- 366 15. Lernoud J, Willer H. The organic and fairtrade market 2015. The World of Organic  
367 Agriculture 2017. FiBL and IFOAM-Organics International. 2017; 143-148.
- 368 16. Loureiro ML, Hine S. Discovering niche markets: A comparison of consumer willingness  
369 to pay for local (Colorado grown), organic, and GMO-free products. Journal of Agricultural  
370 and Applied Economics. 2002; 34(3): 477-487.
- 371 17. Lowitt K. Exploring Connections Between People, Places and Food in Three Nova  
372 Scotia Farmers' Markets. Cuizine: The Journal of Canadian Food Cultures/Cuizine: Revue  
373 des cultures culinaires au Canada, 2009; 2(1): 0-0.
- 374 18. Padel S, Midmore P The development of the European market for organic products:  
375 insights from a Delphi study. British Food Journal 2005; (107)8: 626-646.

- 376 19. Pourjafar M, Amini M, Varzaneh EH, Mahdavinejad M. Role of bazaars as a unifying  
377 factor in traditional cities of Iran: The Isfahan bazaar. *Frontiers of Architectural*  
378 *research*, 2014; 3(1): 10-19.
- 379 20. Sirieix L, de Abreu LS, Watanabe MA, Kledal PR. Comparing organic urban consumers  
380 in developing and developed countries: First results in Brazil and France. In *Embrapa Meio*  
381 *Ambiente-Artigo em anais de congresso (ALICE)*. In: AIEA2 INTERNATIONAL  
382 CONFERENCE, 6., 2007, Londrina. Knowledge, sustainability and bio-resources in the  
383 further development of agri-food system. Londrina: UEL. 2007. 10p.
- 384 21. Sovacool BK, D'Agostino AL, Meenawat H, Rawlani A. (2012). Expert views of climate  
385 change adaptation in least developed Asia. *Journal of Environmental management*. 2012;  
386 (97): 78-88.
- 387 22. Van Doorn J, Verhoef PC. Willingness to pay for organic products: Differences between  
388 virtue and vice foods. *International Journal of Research in Marketing*. 2011; 28(3): 167-180.
- 389 23. Ustaahmetoğlu E, Toklu İT. Organik gıda satın alma niyetinde tutum, sağlık bilinci ve gıda  
390 güvenliğinin etkisi üzerine bir araştırma. *International Journal of Economic & Social*  
391 *Research*. 2015; 11(1): 197-211.

Comment [IB18]: New reference